## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-AN-01431

IN THE MATTER OF THE ENLARGING, EXTENDING AND DEFINING THE CORPORATE LIMITS AND BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF MERIDIAN, LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

TOWN OF MARION, MISSISSIPPI and LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

CITY OF MERIDIAN

**APPELLEES** 

Appeal from the Chancery Court Lauderdale County, Mississippi Trial Court No. 02-845-M

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, TOWN OF MARION, MISSISSIPPI

James L. Carroll (MSB J. Chadwick Mask (MSB Jacob T. E. Stutzman (MSB CARROLL WARREN & PARKER PLLC 188 East Capitol Street, Suite 1200 (39201) Post Office Box 1005 Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1005 Telephone: 601-592-1010

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the Chancellor erred by finding that the annexation of Parcel 1 is reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.<sup>1</sup>

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts

This appeal involves a municipal expansion effort undertaken by the City of Meridian, Mississippi. On August 27, 2002, Meridian filed its annexation petition seeking to annex approximately 9.3 square miles of unincorporated territory located wholly within Lauderdale County, Mississippi. Pl. 6-23.<sup>2</sup> On November 27, 2002, the Town of Marion, Mississippi filed its formal objection to Meridian's annexation petition. Pl. 64-65. Subsequently, on December 13, 2002, Lauderdale County, the Citizens Against Annexation, and the Eagle Pointe Homeowners' Association filed an answer opposing Meridian's annexation petition. Pl. 67-70.

The trial of this matter began on Monday, October 31, 2005 and continued until Wednesday, November 16, 2005. The Chancellor issued his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on June 12, 2006, and later issued his Final Judgment Approving the Enlargement and Extension of the Boundaries of the City of Meridian, Mississippi on August, 10, 2006. Pl. 417-34, 435-53. In his ruling, the Chancellor granted Meridian all of the territory it sought to annex, with the exception of the northernmost portion of Parcel 3, which is immediately to the east of the eastern boundary of Marion. Pl. 433-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Parcel 1 refers to that portion of the proposed annexation area to the north of the municipal limits of Meridian and Marion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citations to the portion of the record containing the trial court pleadings will be cited as "Pl. 1, Pl. 2", etc. Citations to portions of the record containing the trial exhibits will be cited as: "R. 1, R. 2.", etc. Citations to the court reporter's transcript will be cited as: "Tr. 1, Tr. 2", etc.

#### B. Statement of the Law

#### 1. Reasonableness

In In the Matter of the Enlargement and Extension of the Municipal Boundaries of the City of Madison, 650 So. 2d 490, 494 (Miss. 1995) (internal citations omitted), this Court stated

While annexation is a legislative affair, confirmation of annexations is in the province of the chancery court. The role of the judiciary in annexations is limited to one question: whether the annexation is reasonable. Courts are "guided" in this determination of reasonableness by twelve factors previously set forth by this Court.

The twelve "indicia of reasonableness" that the courts of this state consider when called upon to determine the reasonableness of a municipality's proposed annexation under the totality of the circumstances are as follows:

- 1. The municipality's need for expansion;
- 2. Whether the area sought to be annexed is within the path of growth of the city;
- 3. The potential health hazards from sewage and waste disposal in the annexed areas:
- 4. The municipality's financial ability to make the improvements and furnish municipal services promised;
- 5. The need for zoning and overall planning in the area;
- 6. The need for municipal services in the area sought to be annexed;
- 7. Whether there are natural barriers between the city and the proposed annexation area;
- 8. The past performance and time element involved in the city's provision of services to its present residents;
- 9. The impact (economic or otherwise) of the annexation upon those who live or own property in the area proposed for annexation;
- 10. The impact of the annexation upon the voting strength of protected minority groups;
- 11. Whether the property owners and other inhabitants of the areas sought to be annexed have in the past, and for the foreseeable future unless annexed will,

because of their reasonable proximity to the corporate limits of the municipality, enjoy the (economic or social) benefits of proximity to the municipality without paying their fair share of taxes; and

### 12. Any other factors that affect reasonableness.

See In re Exclusion of Certain Territory from City of Jackson, 698 So. 2d 490, 493 (Miss. 1997). The municipality seeking annexation carries the burden of showing that the proposed enlargement is in fact reasonable. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-1-33. While this Court has retained these twelve indicia for consideration in annexation cases, the Court in In re the Extension of the Boundaries of the City of Columbus, 644 So. 2d 1168, 1172 (Miss. 1994), stated that "fairness to all parties has always been the proper focus of our reasonableness inquiry. Thus, ... municipalities must demonstrate through plans and otherwise, that residents of annexed areas will receive something of value in return for their tax dollars in order to carry the burden of showing reasonableness."

#### 2. Standard of Review

This Court will only reverse the Chancery Court's findings as to the reasonableness of an annexation "if the chancellor's decision is manifestly wrong and is not supported by substantial and credible evidence." In the Matter of the Confirmation and Alteration of the Boundaries of the City of Horn Lake, 630 So. 2d 10, 16 (Miss. 1993).

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's decision approving Meridian's proposed annexation of Parcel 1 is manifestly wrong. Furthermore, the Chancellor's decision to approve the expansion of the municipal limits of Meridian is not supported by substantial and credible evidence. Parcel 1 of the proposed annexation area ("PAA") should not have been granted to Meridian. The annexation approved by the Chancellor is not fair and is not reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's Decision to Approve the Expansion of the Municipal Limits of Meridian Was Manifestly Wrong Under the Indicia of Reasonableness Set Forth by This Court.

## A. Meridian Has Not Demonstrated a Need to Expand.<sup>3</sup>

While all twelve of the above-listed indicia must be considered in determining whether an annexation is reasonable, consideration of a city's need to expand is crucial. This indicium is first on the list for a reason. If a city cannot demonstrate a need to expand, it is difficult indeed to fathom how such a city can meet its burden of demonstrating that the expansion it seeks is reasonable. Consideration of the following factors reveals that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong in his determination that Meridian has demonstrated a need to expand, and that the Chancellor's decision is not supported by substantial and credible evidence.

## 1. Meridian's Population Has Been Shrinking for Decades.

The Chancellor noted the importance of population growth when he stated in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that "[t]he glaring impediment to the City's need for expansion is the continuing loss of population." Pl. 423. This Court has recognized the importance of this factor to the overall reasonableness analysis as well. In *In the Matter of the Enlargement and Extension of the Municipal Boundaries of the City of Jackson*, 691 So. 2d 978, 981 (Miss. 1997), this Court stated that a lack of significant population growth must be considered an impediment to annexation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Among the factors that have been considered by this Court in determining whether a municipality has demonstrated a need to expand are: 1) whether the municipality is experiencing population growth, See In the Matter of the Extension of the Boundaries of the City of Ridgeland, 651 So. 2d 548, 553 (Miss. 1995); 2) whether "spillover" development has occurred in the PAA, Ridgeland, 651 So. 2d at 554; 3) remaining vacant land within the municipality, Id. at 555; 4) the city's need for vacant developable land, Columbus, 644 So. 2d at 1173; 5) need to maintain or expand the city's tax base, Jackson, 691 So. 2d at 982; 6) increasing traffic counts, In the Matter of the Enlargement and Extension of the Munic. Boundaries of the City of Biloxi, 744 So. 2d 270, 279 (Miss. 1999); and 7) increased new building permit activity, Ridgeland, 651 So. 2d at 554.

In this case, Meridian has not only failed to sustain significant population growth, it has continuously suffered population loss for years. The lack of population growth experienced by Meridian stands as an undeniable road block in the City's annexation path. Typically, a city seeking to annex territory advances Census reports and other data demonstrating its population growth. In this case, Meridian has presented no such evidence because the data instead demonstrates the City's steady, decades-long decline in population.

The evidence is undisputed that Meridian's population pool is in long-term decline. Meridian has experienced significant **population loss** for the past several decades. R. 1235, 1541. According to Census Bureau estimates, the City's population decreased by 1135 in the short time span between the 2000 Census and 2004, when the estimates were made. Tr. 1289. This spike in population loss is not an aberration. Instead, it reflects the continuance of a decades-long downward spiral. In 1960, Meridian's population totaled 49,374. By 2003, this number had plummeted by approximately 10,000 to 39,559. R. 1235, 1541. To provide a different perspective, during this half-century span Meridian's population decreased by an average of 228 people per year. R. 1235. Meridian's population is expected to continue this downward spiral, as evidenced by 2009 population forecasts which predict a 2009 population of between 37,647 (ESRI estimate) and 38,436 (Claritas estimate). R. 1542, 1543.

The continuous dramatic population loss experienced by Meridian occurred during a period in which the City expanded its boundaries by some 88% via 5 annexations since 1960. R. 11 (map)<sup>5</sup>. The land area of Meridian in 1960 was 24.0 square miles. R. 1240. By 2000, the land area of the City had grown to 45.12 square miles. Id. In other words, during the 40 year period from 1960 to 2000, the land area of Meridian increased by 88% (24.0 square miles to

<sup>3</sup> The originals of all maps were forwarded to the Supreme Court by the Lauderdale County Chancery Clerk.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These population figures are not confined to Meridian. Lauderdale County as a whole has lost population since 2000 as well. R. 1540, Tr. 1293

45.12 square miles) as a result of 5 municipal annexations, R. 11 (map), 1240, but the City's population still plummeted by nearly 20% (from 49,374 to 39,968). R. 1235, Tr. 1292. The Chancellor should have given great weight to this critical and extremely telling evidence in his Final Judgment and/or in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Instead, he ignored it altogether, and his decision is contrary to this Court's holding in *In the Matter of the Enlargement of the Corporate Limits of the City of Hattiesburg*, 588 So. 2d 814, 821 (Miss. 1991), that past annexations must be taken into account when considering a city's population growth. In *Hattiesburg*, 588 So. 2d at 821, this Court noted that while the city's population increased slightly from 1980 to 1990, the city experienced no real growth during that time period because the population increase was attributable to numerous annexations. *Hattiesburg*, 588 So. 2d at 821. Meridian cannot even demonstrate a slight population increase since 1960. Once again, the City's population went down by 20% despite 5 annexations that almost doubled its size over a forty-year time span (1960 to 2000)!

This Court cannot ignore the fact that both Meridian and Lauderdale County have experienced, continue to experience, and are expected to experience population decline. R. 1235, 1237, 1541-43. A city that is not growing and that is experiencing significant long-term population decline cannot demonstrate a need to expand. Meridian has failed to establish - or even credibly suggest - otherwise. This factor alone demonstrates that the annexation approved by the Chancellor is not reasonable.

#### 2. There Is No Spillover Growth Attributable to Meridian.

No one disputes that Meridian is the largest community in Lauderdale County. It is significant, however, that the Town of Marion has captured an important part of the Lauderdale County residential market. Tr. 962-64, 1294. Mayor Elvis Hudson (Mayor of the Town of Marion) testified that Marion is experiencing a boom in residential building, as evidenced by

several ongoing projects such as Linmoor subdivision, Mike Brewer subdivision, Sentinel Ridge, and a number of other developments. Tr. 962-64. The Mayor further testified that Parcel 1 is clearly in Marion's path of growth. Tr. 966-67. Marion is also currently providing water and sewer services to the industrial park and sewer services to portions of Parcel 1 to the north of the City. Tr. 966-67, 969. Finally, Mr. Jimmy Gouras, an expert in the field of urban and regional planning, testified that development in Parcel 1 is spilling over from Marion. Tr. 1294. This evidence demonstrates that a number of the new developments within Parcel 1 have resulted from investments made by Marion in water and sewer infrastructure in the area. Despite these capital investments made by Marion, and the fact that much of the expansion in Parcel 1 is contiguous with Marion, the Chancellor apparently ignored Marion's impact on Parcel 1 in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Pl. 421-24. In addition, common sense mandates that a City in the midst of long-term decline cannot be credited with any spillover growth. The development that may have occurred in Parcel 1 is more accurately described as transferred population rather than spillover growth, and much of the transferred population has transferred completely out of Lauderdale County. The City flunks the "spillover growth" factor in the need to expand indicium of reasonableness.

### 3. Meridian Has Ample Vacant Land Within Its City Limits.

With regard to this factor, the Chancellor cited the high number of building permits issued by the City, the lack of suitable land for development within the City, the number of new residential units constructed within the City, economic growth within the City, and the high number of building conversions/additions occurring within the City. These factors simply do not support the conclusion that Meridian has a need for developable land.

It is undisputed that there are 17.3 square miles, or approximately 11,000 acres, of vacant land inside the City of Meridian. R. 1106. However, it is also undisputed that Meridian has

experienced long-term population decline, R. 1235, 1540, loss of dwelling units since 1980, R. 1239, and that the demolition of dwelling units has outnumbered the construction of new dwelling units since 1993. R. 1256. Meridian has lost an average of 36 residential dwelling units a year since 1993. Id. The City experienced a net loss of 403 residential units during the same period. Id. Furthermore, it is undisputed that Meridian is experiencing decreasing school enrollment, a stagnant civilian labor force, and increasing unemployment. R. 1246, 1248, 1254.

In addition, Meridian has exaggerated actual constraints on vacant land inside the City. The unreliability of Meridian's proof on the issue of land constraints is revealed by the fact that the City's 1999 Comprehensive Plan shows a total of 25.5% of the City's vacant land as undevelopable. R. 1937. The City's 2003 Comprehensive Plan reflects the identical amount of undevelopable land, 25.5%. Exhibit P-019 Table 7,6 Tr. 1300-01. It is extremely unlikely that the total percent of vacant developable land in a City composed of thousands of acres could remain exactly the same. Even more remarkable and revealing is that water and waterways, floodways, flood plains, and severe sloping lands in excess of 15% all reflect the identical percentages in the 1999 and 2003 Comprehensive Plans. R. 1937, Exhibit P-019 Table 7. This statistical anomaly demonstrates the unreliability of Meridian's claims concerning constraints on development within the City. Even if Meridian's numbers concerning constraints cannot or will not be developed. Flood plains and sloped land are constantly developed throughout this State.

Finally, the Chancellor's contention that the number of building permits issued by the City, along with the high number of additions/conversions to buildings within the City, demonstrates a need for vacant developable land is not supported by the evidence. Mr. Gouras

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Exhibit P-019 was not included in the record originally sent from the Chancery Clerk to the Supreme Court. The exhibit was sent at a later date by the Chancery Clerk; thus, it is not numbered consistently with the remainder of the record. As a result, this exhibit will simply be cited as "Exhibit P-019" followed by additional information pinpointing the exact portion of the exhibit cited.

testified that the impact of the number of building permits issued by Meridian is diminished by the fact that demolitions have outnumbered residential construction for years. Tr. 1309. Mr. Gouras also testified that the number of alteration permits issued by the City does not demonstrate a lack of developable land, rather it demonstrates the fact that homeowners must obtain a permit in order to do anything from adding a garage to putting a new roof on a home. Id.

This Court must not abandon common sense when considering the Chancellor's decision that Meridian has demonstrated a need to expand. A City that is experiencing long-term decline in population, dwelling units, school enrollment, and increasing unemployment cannot demonstrate a need for more land. Furthermore, as stated above, the Chancellor's reliance on building permit numbers as an indicator of such a need is misplaced. These factors, coupled with the unreliable land constraint numbers provided by Meridian, show that the City failed to meet its burden of demonstrating a need to expand.

#### 4. The Need for Meridian to Expand Its Tax Base.

This Court has long been very skeptical of municipalities pursuing additional land for the purpose of securing tax revenues. In *Jackson*, 691 So. 2d at 982, this Court stated that "[a]lthough it has been held that a city's need to maintain or expand its tax base, especially as growth and development occurs on its perimeters, is a factor to be considered when determining the reasonableness of a proposed annexation, this Court has in the past, been very critical of annexations which are in effect 'tax grabs.'" Furthermore, this Court held over a century ago that "[m]unicipalities are not designed for the purpose solely, nor chiefly, of raising revenue." *Forbes v. City of Meridian*, 38 So. 676, 678 (Miss. 1905). Marion is not suggesting that there are never instances in which a city legitimately needs to increase its tax base via annexation. Rather,

Marion suggests that the evidence is clear that Meridian does not need to expand its tax base via annexation at this time.

As previously mentioned, Meridian has ample vacant developable land within its corporate limits. If Meridian has a need to expand its tax base, there are ample opportunities to do so within the current City limits, without imposing additional taxes on citizens currently residing in the County. While the Chancellor failed to consider this factor in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the evidence presented in this case demonstrates that Meridian will continue to have a healthy tax base without the additional taxes that would be created by this annexation. Mr. Gouras testified that Meridian can continue to grow its tax base even if the annexation is not granted. Tr. 1351. In addition, even though Meridian annexed only a small piece of land in November 2004, the amount of gross taxes received by the City of Meridian increased every year from 2001 until 2004, as demonstrated by Mississippi State Tax Commission Reports generated for each of those years. R. 1463, 1466, 1469, 1472. According to Meridian's Annexation Implementation Plan, the projected assessed values for 2006, based upon the City as configured at the time of trial, totaled \$259,377,875. R. 42. This number is projected to increase in each fiscal year through 2010, when it is estimated that assessed values will be \$290,800,017 for the City as configured at the time of trial. Id. Obviously, if Meridian's tax base is expected to increase even without the additional tax revenue that would be generated through this annexation, the City has not demonstrated a sufficient need to expand its tax base via this proposed annexation. Meridian's pursuit of this annexation is in effect a "tax grab", as this Court used that term in the *Jackson* case.

# 5. The Slight Traffic Increases in Parcel 1 Do Not Demonstrate a Need to Expand.

In the past, when determining that this factor weighs in favor of annexation, this Court has generally cited to drastic increases in traffic or traffic congestion. For instance, in *Biloxi*,

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