I. INTRODUCTION 

This case comes before this Court on the Briefs of Lauderdale County, 

Mississippi, and the Town of Marion. Lauderdale County is opposing an annexation by 

its largest city and undisputed economic hub. Marion is contending that it should be able 

to annex the territory. Meridian requests in considering the issues raised by Marion that 

it is important for this Court to take judicial notice of Marion's subsequent bankruptcy.' 

The annexation approved by the Special Chancellor in this case is reasonable. His 

finding of reasonableness is well supported by substantial credible evidence. The briefs 

in this case amount to little more than an attempt to have this Court disregard the 

evidence relied on by the Chancellor and substitute its judgement for that of the Court 

below. 

11. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Lauderdale County raises in its brief the issue of "Whether the Chancellor erred 

by findingthe annexation in its entirety is reasonable under the totality of the 

circumstances. (Lauderdale County's Brief 1 .) Marion raises a similar issue related only 

to Parcel One. The City of Meridian would note that the Chancellor did not approve a 

portion of the area sought to be annexed. Meridian has taken no cross appeal. Thus there 

would appear to be no issue with regard to the portion of the annexation area deleted by 

the Chancellor. We assume Lauderdale Count is only challenging the portion of the 

proposed annexation area granted by the Special Chancellor. 

' A Suggestion of Banhptcy was filed in this matter on behalf of the Town of Marion. This matter was 
stayed pending disposition of the bankruptcy proceedings. 



111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The City of Meridian last undertook a comprehensive annexation effort in the late 

1980's and early 90's. The 1991 annexation effortZ was originally configured to include a 

much larger area.3 However, the Court bifurcated the proceedings, with the proof going 

forward on a much smaller area. In 1995 the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the 

annexation of a reduced land area. The City of Meridian, rather than proceeding on the 

remainder of the 1991 annexation effort elected to devote more study to the matter. 

The City of Meridian retained the firm of Bridge and Slaughter, Urban and 

Regional Planners, to assist them in their current annexation planning efforts. Over time, 

that firm conducted extensive studies related to all facets of the proposed annexation. 

(See Testimony of Mayor John Robert Smith. T-18, 19) 

The City adopted its ordinance of annexation and a petition seeking approval was 

filed in this court. Notice was given in the time and manner provided by law. There are 

no procedural issues raised on appeal. 

The area Meridian originally proposed for annexation was approximately 9.3 

square miles? Prior to trial, the City of Meridian modified its proposed annexation plan 

to eliminate certain areas it originally sought to annex. This included an area to the north 

that was annexed by the Town of Marion after Meridian adopted its original ordinance. 

Additionally, the City of Meridian deleted from its original annexation effort the G. V. 

This is an annexation petition that was originally filed on April 24, 1991, in the Chancery Court of 
Lauderdale County. Chancellor George Warner recused himself and called on the Chief Justice of this 
Court to appoint a special chancellor. The case was ultimately heard and decided by Chancellor W.O. 
Dillard. Chancellor Dillard, on December 3, 1991, announced judgment in favor of the City of Meridian as 
to a part of the annexation territory. Enlargemenf and Extension of Mun. Boundaries of City of Meridian v. 
City ofMeridian 662 So.2d 597 (1995), 598 -599 (Miss.,1995) 

See blue outline on Exhibit P-5.) 
"Exhibit P-21 



"Sonny" Montgomery Industrial Park and other areas to the east.5 The demographic and 

financial evidence presented by the city' of Meridian was adjusted for the territory 

reduced. 

The territory sought to be annexed consists of four separate parcels. All areas are 

immediately contiguous to the existing City of Meridian and are accessible by existing 

and in use roads and streets. The parcels are identified on Exhibit P-4 (Basemap). The 

parcels are briefly described as follows: 

Parcel 1 Northern Area: This area contains several large scale 
residential subdivisions. These include Rollingwood, Fair Oaks, 
Brianvood County Estates, and numerous others along Van Zyverden 
Road. The area also contains Northeast Lauderdale High School, 
Northeast Middle School, an apartment complex, a funeral home, 
churches, a country club, a large industrial complex, and assorted small 
businesses. This area is bounded on the north by Brianvood Road, on the 
east by eastern boundary of Sections 10 and 15 of Township 7 North, 
Range 16 East, on the south by Old Country Club Road and portions of 
the north !4 Section of Sections 20 and 21 of the above referenced 
Township and Range, and on the west by the east boundary of Section 8 
and portions of Section 17 of the above referenced Township and Range. 

That portion of the North Area, most fully developed: has 
experienced explosive growth between the 1990 and 2000 United States 
Census. Exhibit P-20 indicates the North area experienced a population 
increase of 118% between 1990 and 2000, and a 137% increase in 
dwelling units over the same period. Testimony by Michael Bridge and 
supported by an existing land use survey, undertaken in March 2005~ 
indicates the population and dwellings for this area continues to increase. 

Parcel 2 This area.consists of a !4 Section of land in Section 21, 
Township 7 North, Range 16 East, just east of Highway 39. The primary 
land use in this area is an elementary school. This area is surrounded on 
three sides by the City of Meridian. The other side abuts the Town of 
Marion. 

Parcel 3 Industrial Area: This area lies east of the existing City, 
North of US Highway 1 1  and West of US 45. The primary land use is 
the Central Industrial park north of Highway 1 1. In addition there are two 

See Exhibit P-4 (Base Map) 
See P-20 (North Smaller Analysis Area) 
' See P-047 



major industries east of Highway 45 Alternate (Old Highway 45). The 
area is served by Meridian's water and sewer and the City's Fire 
~e~artment . '  Further, testimony included the need for enhanced drainage 
improvements and potential health hazards from standing water. 

Parcel 3 Eastern Area: This area lies to the east of the existing 
City of Meridian and South of Highway 11. This area is sometimes 
referred to as the Sweetgum Bottom Area. This eastern annexation area is 
characterized by residential and industrial development. A significant 
portion of this area is under development of the Lauderdale County 
Industrial Park, as set forth on Exhibit P-047 (Land Use Map). 

Parcel 4 Southwestern Area - This area lies to the southwest of 
the existing City. Its primary land use is the City of Meridian's soccer 
complex. 

The entire area sought to be annexed is occupied by 30 businesses9. In 2000 there 

were 1427 persons residing in 592 dwelling units within the area sought to be annexed.1° 

There were 755 residential units with 1790 persons occupying the proposed annexation 

area (hereinafter PAA) in 2005." 

The trial of this matter commenced on October 3 1, 2005 and continued over a 

period of approximately two and one half weeks. The Court took a half-day to view the 

proposed annexation area. Following the trial the Chancellor exclude a portion of Parcel 

3 that lay to the east of the Town of Marion. The Chancellor approved the remaining 

portion of the proposed annexation. From this ruling this appeal is taken.12 

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The annexation approved by the Special Chancellor is reasonable under the 

totality of the circumstances. The court below considered each of the indicia of 

* T-747 
See Exhibit P-47 for list and location of each of the businesses. 

'O See Exhibit P-21 (Demographic Data Sheet) T-747 
" T-747 
'' Though the appeal in this case was taken by Eagle Point Homeowner's Association only the Town of 
Marion and Lauderdale County filed briefs. The objector joined in those briefs. The briefs of the Town of 
Marion and Lauderdale County differ primarily in that the appeal of Marion appears to be restricted to 
Parcel 1. 



reasonableness so often discussed by this Court. He concluded that the annexation, as 

modified, was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. There is no contention 

that the Special Chancellor applied the wrong standard of law in reaching his decision. 

Thus the appropriate standard of review is whether the Chancellor was manifestly wrong. 

The City of Meridian respectfully submits that the decision of the Special Chancellor is 

amply supported by substantial credible evidence and should be affirmed. 

V. ARGUMENT 

Annexation is a statutory procedure governed by the provisions of Title 21 

Chapter 1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972. There is no issue raised in this appeal as to 

failure to comply with any of the procedural requirements set out in the Code. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The standard by which the Chancellor's decision should be reviewed is well settled. 

Recently this Court restated the appropriate standard of review as follows: 

. . .this Court's standard of review is well established: 

This Court's standard of review for annexation is very limited. The Court can only 
reverse the chancery court's findings as to the reasonableness of an annexation if 
the chancellor's decision is manifestly wrong and is not supported by substantial 
and credible evidence. In re Enlargement and Extension of Mun. Boundaries of 
City of Madison v. City of Madison, 650 So.2d 490, 494 (Miss.1995). We also 
stated "[wlhere there is conflicting, credible evidence, we defer to the findings 
below." BasseN v. Town of Taylorsville, 542 So.2d 918, 921 (Miss.1989). 
"Findings of fact made in the context of conflicting, credible evidence may not be 
disturbed unless this Court can say that from all the evidence that such findings 
are manifestly wrong, given the weight of the evidence." Id. at 921. "We only 
reverse where the Chancery Court has employed erroneous legal standards or 
where we are left with a firm and definite conviction that a mistake has been 
made." Id. City of Hattiesburg, 840 So.2d at 81 . In re Enlargement and Extension 
of Mun. Boundaries of City of D'lberville 867 So.2d 241,248 (Miss.,2004) 

In this case, there is no contention that the Special Chancellor employed an erroneous 

legal standard. Thus, the only legitimate issue is: "Whether the findings of fact are manifestly 



wrong, given the weight of the conflicting evidence presented at trial." Meridian would show 

that upon examination of each of the indicia and under the totality of the circumstances, the 

Chancellor committed no error when he approved a portion of the annexation. 

B. IS THE ANNEXATION REASONABLE 

Over the years, the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized a number of 

indicators or indicia of reasonableness. Recently, the Court said: 

In a series of cases beginning with Dodd, 238 Miss. at 396-97, 118 
So.2d at 330, including, McElhaney 501 So.2d at 403-04, and City 
of Greenville v. Farmers, Inc., 513 So.2d 932, 941 (Miss.1987), 
this Court has recognized at least eight indicia of reasonableness. 
These are (1) the municipality's need for expansion, (2) whether 
the area sought to be annexed is reasonably within a path of growth 
of the city, (3) the potential health hazards from sewage and waste 
disposal in the annexed areas, (4) the municipality's financial 
ability to make the improvements and furnish municipal services 
promised, (5) the need for zoning and overall planning in the area, 
(6) the need for municipal services in the area sought to be 
annexed, (7) whether there are natural barriers between the city 
and the PAA, and (8) the past performance and time element 
involved in the city's provision of services to its present residents. 

Other judicially recognized indicia of reasonableness include (9) 
the impact (economic or otherwise) of the annexation upon those 
who live in or own property in the area proposed for annexation; 
Western Line, 465 So.2d at 1059, (10) the impact of the annexation 
upon the voting strength of protected minority groups, Yazoo City, 
452 So.2d at 842-43, (1 1) whether the property owners and other 
inhabitants of the areas sought to be annexed have in the past, and 
for the foreseeable future unless annexed will, because of their 
reasonable proximity to the corporate limits of the municipality, 
enjoy the (economic and social) benefits of proximity to the 
municipality without paying their fair share of the taxes, Texas Gas 
Transmission Corp. v. City of Greenville, 242 So.2d 686, 689 
(Miss.1971); Forbes v. City of Meridian, 86 Miss. 243,38 So. 676 
(1905); and (12) any other factors that may suggest reasonableness 
vel non. Bassett, 542 So.2d at 921. More recent cases have also 
relied upon these twelve factors. In re Enlargement & Extension 
of the Mun. Boundaries of the City of Madison, Mississippi: The 
City of Jackson, Mississippi v. City of Madison, 650 So.2d 490 
(Miss.1995) (hereinafter, Madison "); In re Extension of the 



Boundaries of the City of Columbus, 644 So.2d 1168 (Miss.1994) 
(hereinafter, Columbus "). 

In re Enlargement and Extension of Municipal Boundaries of City of 
Biloxi, 744 So. 2d 270 (Miss. 1999), (Miss. 1999) 

The indicia of reasonableness are not separate and independent tests. Rather, they 

are indicators which are useful in determining the reasonableness of an annexation under 

the totality of the  circumstance^.'^ 

C. The Indicia of Reasonableness 

I .  The municipality's need for expansion 

The Special Chancellor found: 

Need for Expansion. The first indicia of reasonableness is the 
municipality's need for expansion.14 

When considering this indicia, there are numerous factors to be 
considered. They include whether or not spillover development has 
occurred into the proposed annexation area, (PAA) whether there is 
remaining vacant land within the municipality, whether the city has a need 
for vacant developable land, whether there is an increasing traffic count 
within the city, the limitations, if any, due to geography and surrounding 
cities, environmental influences such as floodplains or wetlands, the need 
to expand the city's borders to exercise control over development and to 
provide comprehensive planning for growth in the proposed annexation 
area, and any increase in new building permit activity. Exhibit P 7. 

 assef eft v. Town of Taylorsville 542 So.2d 918,922 , (Miss. 1989) the Mississippi Supreme Court changed 
the terminology kom "criteria of reasonableness" to "indicia of reasonableness". In doing so they stated: 

In the end, the Chancery Court is charged to determine whether under the totality of the 
circumstances the annexation (or any part thereof) is reasonable, having due deference to 
the interests of the municipality and, as well, the interests of the parties affected City of 
Greenville v. Farmers, Inc., 513 So.2d at 941-42. 

This standard has consistently been applied since that time in amexation cases. "These factors have since 
been applied consistently by this Court. See e.g In re Extension of Corporate Boundaries of Mantachie, 
685 So.2d 724, 726-29 (Miss.1996)." In re Exclusion of Certain Territoryfrom City of Jackson, 698 S0.2d 
490,493 (Miss. 1997) 



The evidence has shown that there has been significant spillover 
particularly into Parcel 1. Some spillover has also occurred in the Sweet 
Gum Bottom portion of the third annexation area. The Court is concerned, 
however, with that portion of Parcel 3 that lies west of US. Highway 45 
and east of the eastern boundary of the Town of Marion. Testimony shows 
that there is no development within this area. Further, no development is 
anticipated and in addition, this would prohibit any expansion by the 
Town of Marion to the east. 

Parcels two and four of the PAA, though small in area, deserves 
consideration. 

Parcel two is completely surrounded by municipalities; three sides 
by the City of Meridian and the fourth side by the Town of Marion. The 
Court finds that this parcel is primarily a site for a public school. 

Parcel four is also a very small parcel of land that is used primarily 
for a soccer complex. This soccer complex, though not requiring any 
tremendous or large assistance by the City, does, however, require water 
and sewer services and police and fire protection, particularly during 
soccer contests. 

. . .  
The Court must also consider whether or not spillover 

development has occurred in parcels 1 or 3 of the PAA. 

Certainly, spillover has occurred in the northern annexation area as 
well as in the Sweet Gum Bottom area. An examination of Exhibit P-47 
shows the spillover development that has occurred. The Court finds that 
this spillover is caused, in part, by the lack of developable land within the 
City of Meridian.

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